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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division

VERONICA MCLAMB,

. Civil Action No. 3:17¢cv00812
Plaintiff, :

V.
VIRGINIA CREDIT UNION

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

COME NOW the Plaintiff, Veronica McLamb, by counsel, and for her Class Action

Complaint against the Defendant, she alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION

1. This is a civil action seeking monetary damages, restitution and declaratory relief
from Defendant, Virginia Credit Union (“VACU?”), arising from a) the unfair and unconscionable
assessment and collection of “Overdraft Fees” (“OD Fees”) on accounts that were never actually
overdrawn.

2. Besides being deceptive, unfair and unconscionable, these practices breach contract
promises made in the VACU’s adhesion contracts—specifically, the promise to charge OD Fees
only on transactions which actually overdraw an account.

3. In plain, clear, and simple language, the checking account contract documents
discussing OD Fees promise that the VACU will only charge OD Fees on transactions with

insufficient funds to “cover” a given transaction.

/VACUCO~1_1
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4. As happened to Plaintiff, however, VACU charges OD Fees even when the
transaction has not overdrawn an account. For example, Plaintiff McLamb was charged three OD
Fees on October 12, 2017. But, according to the monthly account statement prepared by VACU,
Plaintiff’s account balance was never negative during the entire two weeks preceding the supposed
overdraft event. By definition, then, there were always funds to “cover” that transaction—Yet
VACU assessed an OD Fee on it anyway.

5. In short, VACU is not authorized by contract to charge OD Fees on transactions
that have not overdrawn an account, but it has done so and continues to do so. Its assessment of
OD Fees in this manner also violates federal Regulation E, which requires full and fair disclosure
of overdraft practices.

6. Plaintiff and other VACU customers have been injured by VACU’s practices. On
behalf of herself and the putative class, Plaintiff seeks damages, restitution and injunctive relief
for VACU’s breach of contract and violation of Regulation E.

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965 and 15 U.S.C. 8 1692k(d).
The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88§ 1367 and
1332(d)(2).
PARTIES
8. Plaintiff Veronica McLamb is a natural person who resides in Virginia.
9. Defendant VACU is a credit union with approximately $3.5 billion in assets.
VACU is one of the 55 largest credit unions in the country. VACU is headquartered in Richmond,

VA and does business across the state of Virginia.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

10. Plaintiff has a checking account with VACU, and until very recently she had chosen
to opt-in to VACU’s overdraft standard overdraft practices.

11.  VACU issues debit cards to its checking account customers, including Plaintiff,
which allows its customers to have electronic access to their checking accounts for purchases,
payments, withdrawals and other electronic debit transactions.

12. Pursuant to its standard account agreement, VACU charges fees (currently in the
amount of $20 for the first overdraft per year and $35 for each additional overdraft) for debit card
transactions that purportedly result in an overdraft.

A. Mechanics of a Debit Card Transaction

13. A debit card transaction occurs in two parts. First, authorization for the purchase
amount is instantaneously obtained by the merchant from the VACU. When a merchant
physically or virtually “swipes” a customer’s debit card, the credit card terminal connects, via an
intermediary, to VACU, which verifies that the customer’s account is valid and that sufficient
available funds exist to “cover” the transaction amount.

14. At this step, if the transaction is approved, VACU immediately decrements the
funds in a consumer’s account and sequesters funds in the amount of the transaction, but does not
yet transfer the funds to the merchant.

15. Sometime thereafter, the funds are actually transferred from the customer’s account
to the merchant’s account. This is referred to in the banking industry as “posting” or “settling”—

something which may occur several days after the transaction was initially initiated.
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B. VACU Account Documents

16.  Plaintiff’s checking account with VACU was, at all relevant times, governed by
VACU'’s standardized contract for deposit accounts, the material terms of which are drafted by
VACU, amended by VACU from time to time at its convenience and complete discretion, and
imposed by VACU on all of its customers.

17. In plain, clear, and simple language, the checking account contract documents
discussing OD Fees promise that the VACU will only charge OD Fees on transactions with
insufficient funds to “cover” a given transaction:

If your share balance or any applicable credit limit is insufficient to cover the indebted or

obligation you owe to VACU for transfers/transactions such as drafts, withdrawals, fees or

other items, then we will cover those amounts according to your overdraft authorization on
record.
“VACU Membership Rules and Regulations” (emphasis added).

18. Similarly, the account’s Fee Disclosure states that an “NSF fee (return check, ATM
or other electronic debit due to non-sufficient available funds of more than $5[.])” (emphasis
added).

19.  The account documents never describe the transaction posting order used by
VACU.

20. Federal law requires that banks and credit unions receive affirmative consent from
accountholders before charging overdraft fees for ATM and/or non-recurring debit card purchases.

21. Regulation E required VACU to provide its customers the information required to
obtain their legally binding informed consent because. But VACU failed to do this, because its

opt-in disclosures contained the same or similar misrepresentations regarding VACU’s true

overdraft policies as the account contract documents did.
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22. The importance of Regulation E is highlighted by the fact that the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau’s ("Bureau™) study of actual practices found that: 1) ATM and debit
card transactions are by far the most frequent transactions that occur; 2) overdraft fee policies
entail expensive fees at very little risk to the financial institutions; and 3) opted-in accounts have
seven times as many overdrafts that result in fees as not opted-in accounts.

C. Plaintiff’s Experience

23.  OnOctober 12, 2017, Plaintiff McLamb was assessed three OD Fees in the amount
of $35 each. This is despite the fact that, according to the bank statement issued by VACU, her
account never went negative within the two week period prior; her account never went negative
even after the transactions that supposedly caused the OD Fees were posted; and her account, in
fact, was only deemed went negative until after VACU assessed $105 in OD Fees (and even then,
only by $2.52). With a positive balance of $125.21 on October 11, 2017, and three debit card
transactions of $5.92, $8.51, and $8.30 posting to the account on October 12, 2017, the remaining
positive balance should have been reflected as $102.48. Contrary to the account agreement, the
OD Fees were charged and actually pushed the account to be negative. In short, Plaintiff always
had sufficient funds to cover the transactions that supposedly caused OD Fees.

24.  Similarly, on November 7, 2017, Plaintiff was charged overdraft fees even though
her account balance did not go negative, according to her bank statement.

25. VACU denotes OD Fees assessed to debit card transactions as ‘“Paid EOD NSF
FEE” on its monthly account statements. Its Fee Disclosure refers to “Paid NSF fee” as an
“overdraft created by check, withdrawal, ATM or other electronic means due to non-sufficient

available funds of more than $5, limited to 6 NSF or overdraft fees per day).”



Case 3:17-cv-00812-MHL Document1 Filed 12/08/17 Page 6 of 12 PagelD# 6

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

26. Plaintiff bring this action on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated
pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. This action satisfies the numerosity,
commonality, typicality, adequacy, predominance and superiority requirements of Rule 23.

27.  The proposed class is defined as:

All VACU checking account holders in the United States who within the applicable

statute of limitations were charged OD Fees on transactions that did not overdraw

their checking accounts.

28. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed Class
before the Court determines whether certification is appropriate.

29. Excluded from the Class are VACU, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and
directors, any entity in which VACU has a controlling interest, all customers who make a timely
election to be excluded, governmental entities, and all judges assigned to hear any aspect of this
litigation, as well as their immediate family members.

30.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder is impractical. The Class
consist of thousands of members, the identity of whom is within the knowledge of and can be
ascertained only by resort to VACU’s records.

31.  The claims of the representative Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Class in
that the representative Plaintiff, like all Class members, was charged OD Fees by VACU as a result
of charging OD Fees on transactions that did not actually overdraw checking accounts. The
representative Plaintiff, like all Class members, has been damaged by VACU’s misconduct in that
they have been overdraft charges that violate the account contract. Furthermore, the factual basis

of VACU’s misconduct is common to all Class members, and represents a common thread of

unfair and unconscionable conduct resulting in injury to all members of the Class.
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32.  There are numerous questions of law and fact common to the Class and those
common questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class members.

33.  Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are whether VACU:

a. Imposed OD Fees on debit card transactions when those transactions did
not overdraw accounts.

b. Imposed OD Fees on debit card transactions in violation of the Electronic
Funds Transfer Act.

Other questions of law and fact common to the Class include:

C. The proper method or methods by which to measure damages, and

d. The declaratory relief to which the Class are entitled.

34.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of other Class members, in that they arise
out of the same wrongful overdraft policies and practices of VACU’s account contract. Plaintiff
has suffered the harm alleged and has no interests antagonistic to the interests of any other Class
member.

35. Plaintiff is committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and has retained
competent counsel experienced in the prosecution of class actions and, in particular, class actions
on behalf of consumers and against financial institutions. Accordingly, Plaintiff is an adequate
representatives and will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.

36. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy. Since the amount of each individual Class member’s claim is
small relative to the complexity of the litigation, and due to the financial resources of VACU, no
Class member could afford to seek legal redress individually for the claims alleged herein.

Therefore, absent a class action, the Class members will continue to suffer losses and VACU’s
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misconduct will proceed without remedy.

37. Even if Class members themselves could afford such individual litigation, the court
system could not. Given the complex legal and factual issues involved, individualized litigation
would significantly increase the delay and expense to all parties and to the Court. Individualized
litigation would also create the potential for inconsistent or contradictory rulings. By contrast, a
class action presents far fewer management difficulties, allows claims to be heard which might
otherwise go unheard because of the relative expense of bringing individual lawsuits, and provides

the benefits of adjudication, economies of scale and comprehensive supervision by a single court.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Breach of Contract
(On Behalf of the Class)

38. Plaintiff repeats paragraphs 1 through 34 above.

39. Plaintiff and VACU have contracted for bank account deposit, checking, ATM, and
debit card services.

40.  VACU breached promises included in the account documents as described herein
when it charged overdraft fees on transactions that did not overdraw checking accounts.

41. Plaintiff and members of the Class have performed all, or substantially all, of the
obligations imposed on them under the contract.

42. Plaintiff and members of the Class have sustained damages as a result of VACU’s
breach of the contract.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of Electronic Fund Transfers Act (Requlation E)

C.F.R. 8 1005 et seq. (authority derived from 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1693 et seq.))
(On Behalf of the Class)
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43.  The preceding allegations are incorporated by reference and re-alleged as if fully
set forth herein.

44. By charging overdraft fees on ATM and nonrecurring transactions, VACU violated
Regulation E (12 C.F.R. 881005 et seq.), whose “primary objective” is “the protection of
consumers” (81005.1(b)) and which “carries out the purposes of the [Electronic Fund Transfer Act
15 U.S.C. 881693 et seq.), the “EFTA”] (81005. I(b)), whose express “primary objective” is also
“the provision of individual consumer rights” (15 U.S.C. §1693(b)).

45.  Specifically, the charges violated what is known as the “Opt In Rule” of Regulation
E (12 C.F.R. 8 1005.17.) The Opt In Rule states: “a financial institution ... shall not assess a fee or
charge ... pursuant to the institution's overdraft service, unless the institution: (i) [p]rovides the
consumer with a notice in writing [the opt-in notice]. . . describing the institution's overdraft
service” and (i) “[p Jrovides a reasonable opportunity for the consumer to affirmatively consent”
to enter into the overdraft program. (Id.) The notice “shall be clear and readily understandable.”
(12 C.F.R. 8205.4(a)(l).) To comply with the affirmative consent requirement, a financial
institution must provide a segregated description of its overdraft practices that is accurate, non-
misleading and truthful and that conforms to 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17 prior to the opt-in, and must
provide its customers a reasonable opportunity to opt-in after receiving the description. The
affirmative consent must be provided in a way mandated by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, and the financial
institution must provide confirmation of the opt-in in a manner that conforms to 12 C.F.R. 8
1005.17.

46.  The intent and purpose of this Opt-In Contract is to “assist customers in
understanding how overdraft services provided by their institutions operate .... by explaining the

institution's overdraft service ... ina clear and readily understandable way”-as stated in the Official
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Staff Commentary (74 Fed. Reg. 59033, 59035, 59037, 5940, 5948), which is “the CFPB’s official
interpretation of its own regulation,” “warrants deference from the courts unless ‘demonstrably
irrational,””” and should therefore be treated as “a definitive interpretation” of Regulation E. Strubel
v. Capital One Bank (USA), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41487, *11 (S.D. N.Y. 2016) (quoting Chase
Bank USA v. McCoy, 562 U.S. 195, 211 (2011)) (so holding for the CFPB’s Official Staff
Commentary for the Truth In Lending Act’s Regulation Z)).

47.  VACU failed to comply with Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, which requires
affirmative consent before a financial institution is permitted to assess overdraft fees against
customers’ accounts through an overdraft program for ATM and non-recurring debit card
transactions. VACU has failed to comply with the 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17 opt-in requirements,
including failing to provide its customers with a valid description of the overdraft program which
meets the strictures of 12 C.F.R. 8§ 1005.17. VACU’s opt-in method fails to satisfy 12 C.F.R. §
1005.17 because, inter alia, it states that an overdraft occurs when there is not enough money in
the account to cover a transaction but VACU pays it anyway, when in fact VACU assesses
overdraft fees when there is enough money in the account to pay for the transaction at issue.

48.  According to VACU’s Regulation E Opt-in form: “An overdraft occurs when you
do not have enough money in your account to cover a transaction, but we pay it anyway.”

49.  As exhibited by the transactions above, Plaintiff’s account had funds to cover the
transactions, which were paid, yet VACU charged overdraft fees.

50.  Asaresult of violating Regulation E’s prohibition against assessing overdraft fees
on ATM and non-recurring debit card transactions without obtaining affirmative consent to do so,

VACU has harmed Plaintiff and the Class.

10
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ol. Due to VACU’s violation of Regulation E (12 C.F.R. § 1005.17), Plaintiff and

members of the Class are entitled to actual and statutory damages, as well as attorneys' fees and

costs of suit pursuant to 15 U.S.C.A. § 1693m.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Class demand a jury trial on all claims so triable and

judgment as follows:

A.

Certification for this matter to proceed as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) and
23(b)(3);

Declaring VACU’s OD Fee policies and practices to be wrongful, unfair and
unconscionable;

Restitution of all OD Fees paid to VACU by Plaintiff and the Class, as a result of the

wrongs alleged herein in an amount to be determined at trial,

. Actual damages in an amount according to proof;

Pre-judgment interest at the maximum rate permitted by applicable law;
Costs and disbursements assessed by Plaintiff in connection with this action, including

reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to applicable law;

. For attorneys’ fees under the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the common fund doctrine, and

all other applicable law; and

. Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED

Respectfully submitted,

By: /sl Kristi C. Kelly
Kristi C. Kelly, Esq., VSB #72791
Andrew J. Guzzo, Esq., VSB #82170

11
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Casey S. Nash, Esq., VSB #84261
KELLY & CRANDALL, PLC

3925 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 202
Fairfax, VA 22030

(703) 424-7572

(703) 591-0167 Facsimile

Email: kkelly@kellyandcrandall.com
Email: aguzzo@kellyandcrandall.com
Email: casey@kellyandcrandall.com
Counsel for Plaintiffs

Jeffrey D. Kaliel

KALIEL PLLC

1875 Connecticut Ave. NW 10™ Floor
Washington, D.C. 20009

(202) 350-4783
jkaliel@kalielpllc.com

Pro Hac Vice Motion to be Filed

Jeff Ostrow

Jonathan M. Streisfeld

KOPELOWITZ OSTROW
FERGUSON WEISELBERG GILBERT
1 West Las Olas Blvd, 5th Floor

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301

(954) 525-4100

ostrow@kolawyers.com
streisfeld@kolawyers.com

Pro Hac Vice Motion to be Filed
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